STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Lexington County

Honorable Jocelyn J. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

KEVIN LAWRENCE PEARSON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000233

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

Nov 21 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUES PRESENTED

I.

Whether the PCR court erred in denying Petitioner's claim his guilty plea was coerced, where counsel admitted the judge took the solicitor's side and strongly suggested Petitioner should accept the plea offer, and where this affected Petitioner's decision to plead guilty, since the judge may not inject his personal opinion into that decision nor make inaccurate statements of law?

II.

Whether the PCR court erred in concluding Petitioner received effective assistance of counsel, where counsel admitted the judge took the solicitor's side and strongly suggested Petitioner should accept the plea offer, but where counsel failed to object and move to withdraw the plea, since the judge may not inject his personal opinion into that decision nor make inaccurate statements of law, and since Petitioner was prejudiced?

STATEMENT

Procedural history

On August 15, 2019, a Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Kevin Pearson, Petitioner, for murder. App. 106 – 107. On November 21 – 22, 2019, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Frank Addy for a guilty plea hearing. David Mauldin represented Petitioner. Sutantia Fuller prosecuted the case. App. 1. Petitioner entered a negotiated guilty plea to the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter for a twenty-five-year sentence. The court sentenced Petitioner to twenty-five years. App. 3, ll. 11-13; App. 8, ll. 12-24; App. 29, ll. 9-16.

No direct appeal was taken. On November 20, 2020, Petitioner timely filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 31 – 37. On June 16, 2021, the State made its return and motion for a more definite statement. App. 38 – 50. On May 25, 2022, Petitioner filed an amendment to his PCR application. App. 51 – 52. On June 8, 2022, a hearing was held on the matter before the Honorable Jocelyn Newman. Petitioner was represented by Ola Johnson. Lillian Meadows represented the State. App. 53. On October 27, 2023, the PCR court issued an order of dismissal. App. 84 – 108.

Offense

The State alleged that Petitioner was shot in the throat, and he blamed one Rodney Isaac for that shooting. About a month later, at approximately 11:15 a.m. on February 8, 2017, Isaac was shot and killed in West Columbia. “Witnesses described a car that had pulled up and then some kind of altercation or something [that] ended up with Rodney being shot by the individual in the car.” Possibly “the two cars might have almost hit each other or something.” App. 107; App. 69, l. 7 – 70, l. 19; App. 24, ll. 5-17.

A witness called 911 and gave a vehicle description and tag number for the shooter's car. The witness also told law enforcement the shooter had a dog with him. The tag number was registered to Petitioner's sister. Petitioner's mother or his mother's boyfriend stated Petitioner left that morning in his sister's car with the dog. Petitioner's sister stated Petitioner had returned with the car and dog and said he had "done something bad." An eyewitness identified Petitioner as the shooter. However, other witnesses could not identify the shooter. The State alleged Petitioner sent incriminating text messages and fled the jurisdiction. App. 13, l. 22 – 14, l. 16; App. 70, ll. 2-11; App. 23, l. 23 – 27, l. 5.

Proceedings

Petitioner was transported to the courthouse on November 21, 2019. The solicitor put on the record that she had extended a plea offer of "a negotiated plea to 25 years on voluntary manslaughter," and that she and defense counsel had agreed on a plea offer, so the plea was scheduled for that day. App. 3, ll. 8-14. However, the solicitor stated the victims were no longer present because she "was told that the defendant has changed his mind again and is now rejecting that plea offer and wishes to fire his attorney. So we are here to, at his request to put this on the record and he wishes to be heard. I'm not sure if there's any valid grounds for relief of counsel at this point." App. 3, ll. 14-20. The solicitor stated, "I can tell him now whoever he hires, there is no offer less than murder so it was good through today." App. 4, ll. 8-10. Defense counsel stated, "We discussed plea arrangements last week and he told me today that he did not wish to accept it and that also he wished to have me relieved." App. 5, ll. 5-7. The court asked Petitioner if he was rejecting the offer and Petitioner stated he had not agreed to the offer in the first place. App. 5, ll. 12-18. The following transpired.

THE COURT: If they pull this offer today, Mr. Pearson, I just want you to be totally, totally clear on what's gonna happen. You will be looking at going to trial

for murder. It is entirely possible that if you are convicted of murder, the penalty in that case is 30 years to life, okay, sir? You would have to serve that day for day.

KEVIN PEARSON: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: A voluntary manslaughter conviction you'd have to serve 85 percent of whatever it is that you get convicted of, okay?

KEVIN PEARSON: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: So 85 percent is what you would have to serve. It's entirely possible that the Court may conclude that you are entitled to a lesser included charge of voluntary manslaughter or maybe even an involuntary manslaughter. I don't know if that's something that you've talked to your lawyer about. Could be that you're entitled to a self defense charge. Could be that you're entitled to the defense of accident or for that matter suicide, all right? **But you understand, Mr. Pearson, what I'm getting at is that you're gonna be between a rock and a hard place going forward if you choose to decline to accept this offer. Do you understand that?**

KEVIN PEARSON: Yes, sir.

...

THE COURT: . . . There are risks and rewards to every action that you choose to take. I've got a very simple question for you. Do you want to plead guilty to voluntary manslaughter and receive a guaranteed 25 year sentence or would you rather go to trial and see what happens at trial? What's your choice?

KEVIN PEARSON: I would rather to go to plea.

THE COURT: You would rather go to plea?

KEVIN PEARSON: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: **Okay. That's the best it's gonna get is 25 years. You want the 25 years or no?**

KEVIN PEARSON: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: All right. Sign right here on the dotted line, let your attorney sign next to you and we'll go ahead and take this plea, okay, sir?

Thereafter occurred a plea colloquy in which Petitioner affirmed that he wished to waive his rights and plead guilty. During the colloquy, the court asked if Petitioner was satisfied with plea counsel.

THE COURT: I understand that we started this off with maybe some discord between you and Mr. Mauldin and you were looking to have him fired. I'll tell you that typically I do not relieve counsel if they've been appointed. **If you wanted to retain somebody else, that might be your business, but it would not delay the resolution of this case and obviously wouldn't result in a better offer from what the Solicitor is telling us** so I realize that maybe you and Mr. Mauldin may have disagreed at times about this case, but are you satisfied with the way he's represented you?

KEVIN PEARSON: Yes, sir.

App. 19, ll. 4-15 (emphasis added). The court accepted the plea and deferred sentencing until the following day for logistical reasons. The next day the court sentenced Petitioner in accordance with the terms of the plea bargain. No direct appeal was taken, and Petitioner sought post-conviction relief.

Petitioner sought relief on the basis that the plea judge's statements were coercive. Petitioner alleged counsel should have objected or moved to withdraw the plea. App. 57, l. 10 – 59, l. 22. Petitioner testified that he felt coerced into entering the guilty plea because the judge essentially denied his motion to relieve counsel and “basically was like, yeah, take this 25 years or you going to get [sentenced for murder].” App. 64, l. 5 – 65, l. 9. “I felt defeated, like I felt defeated. Like it was no other choice, like, yes, come on with it. Okay. Like that was it. I am not—no choice but to take it.” App. 66, ll. 16-19. Plea counsel testified as follows:

Q. . . . [W]hat was the reason that he requested to relieve you at the beginning of the hearing?

A. He was not happy with the plea offer.

Q. Okay. And then sort of after the solicitor stated there—there'd be no better offer. And Judge Add[y] informed him of this. He essentially changed his mind?

A. I believe so.

Q. Okay.

A. Judge Add[y] did reiterate what the solicitor had already said.

Q. Okay. Did he give you—did Mr. Pearson give you any indication at that time that he felt the Judge was coercing him into pleading guilty?

A. No. It's—again he thought it was too much time for what he did. And he wasn't happy about it all, but he kind of understood that the state made that offer and his alternative was going to trial where the minimum would be 30 and the maximum would be life.

Q. Okay.

A. So if that's coercion, that's coercion.

App. 74, l. 6 – 75, l. 1. Plea counsel testified he did not object or move to withdraw the plea because he did not see anything wrong with what the judge said. “I don't think the judge was limiting the offer. I think the Judge was just repeating what the solicitor said.” App. 77, l. 18 – 79, l. 2. Counsel further testified he did not appeal because Petitioner did not ask him to, and he did not see any factual or legal basis to appeal. App. 75, ll. 5-17.

At the conclusion of the PCR hearing, the court issued an oral ruling. The court determined counsel correctly saw no need to file an appeal from the plea, since Petitioner “has not demonstrated any prejudice in that he's also failed to demonstrate any coercion. The judge informed him that he couldn't get a better offer if he retained somebody else. That is simply a restatement of what the solicitor indicated at the outcome for the plea or at the outset of the plea.” App. 80, ll. 9-24. The court stated: “the Judge was simply reiterating the statement from the solicitor.” App. 81, ll. 8-9.

The order of dismissal addressed Petitioner's claim that his guilty plea was coerced due to comments by the judge, and that counsel should have moved to withdraw the plea after the judge told Petitioner he would not receive a better offer. App. 97 – 103; App. 100. The order recited the events which occurred before the circuit court. It recited Petitioner's PCR hearing testimony that he felt coerced to plead guilty based on the judge's comments. App. 98 – 100. The order cited plea counsel's testimony that he "did not move to withdraw the plea at that time because Applicant did not express any concern or indicate he wanted to withdraw the plea after Judge Addy made the above statement. Counsel further stated that Judge Addy was merely repeating what the solicitor advised the Court at the beginning of the hearing." App. 100 – 101.

The order stated the PCR court found Petitioner's "claim of coercion is wholly without merit," given the thorough plea colloquy that occurred. App. 101 – 102. The order stated that Petitioner's answers during the plea colloquy "made it clear to the plea court that the decision to plead guilty was his own." App. 102. "This Court finds the plea transcript reflects Applicant understood the proceedings, interacted intelligently with the plea court, and entered his guilty plea knowingly and voluntarily." App. 102. The order concluded the PCR court found Petitioner's plea to be freely, knowingly, and voluntarily made. App. 98; App. 103.

The order of dismissal further stated the PCR court found "no deficiency in Counsel's failure to file a notice of appeal on Applicant's behalf. Applicant further failed to identify any factual or legal issue that could have been successfully raised on Appeal." App. 97.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

I.

The PCR court erred in denying Petitioner's claim his guilty plea was coerced where counsel admitted the judge took the solicitor's side and strongly suggested Petitioner accept the plea offer, and where this affected Petitioner's decision to plead guilty, since the judge may not inject his personal opinion into that decision nor make inaccurate statements of law.

The PCR court erred where it found Petitioner's claim his guilty plea was coerced was a claim without merit. Counsel admitted that when the judge "reiterated what the solicitor had already said" about the plea offer, it changed Petitioner's mind about rejecting the offer. App. 74, ll. 9-16. Judges are generally prohibited from engaging in the plea bargaining process due to the risk of coercion. A judge may only participate in the plea bargaining process in an extremely limited manner not present here. Petitioner's plea was not knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently tendered.

The Sixth Amendment provides an accused with the right to a trial by jury. U.S. Const. amend. VI. The Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial is incorporated against the States under the Fourteenth Amendment. *Duncan v. Louisiana*, 391 U.S. 145, 149 (1968). A guilty plea "is more than an admission of past conduct; it is the defendant's consent that judgment of conviction may be entered without a trial—a waiver of his right to trial before a jury or a judge. Waivers of constitutional rights not only must be voluntary but must be knowing, intelligent acts done with sufficient awareness of the relevant circumstances and likely consequences." *Brady v. United States*, 397 U.S. 742, 748 (1970). "[T]he Due Process Clause requires that guilty pleas are entered into voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently by defendants." *Pittman v. State*, 337 S.C. 597, 599, 524 S.E.2d 623, 624 (1999). The decision to plead guilty must be a voluntary and

intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant. *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 56 (1985).

A trial judge may participate in the plea bargaining process only “if he follows guidelines to minimize the fear of coercion.” *Medlin v. State*, 276 S.C. 540, 541, 280 S.E.2d 648, 648 (1981). In *Medlin*, this Court issued such guidelines. The guidelines provide limited ways in which a judge may participate in the plea-bargaining process. “Except as otherwise provided in [these guidelines], the judge should never through word or demeanor, either directly or indirectly, communicate to the defendant or defense counsel that . . . a guilty plea should be entered.” *Id.*, 276 S.C. at 542, 280 S.E.2d at 649.

See *State v. Owens*, 362 S.C. 175, 178, 607 S.E.2d 78, 80 (2004) (“Although the trial court must strive to ensure that a criminal defendant’s waiver of the right of a jury trial is knowing and voluntary, the court should never inject its personal opinion into that decision. The comments here impermissibly did so.”); *State v. Jenkins*, 436 S.C. 362, 375, 872 S.E.2d 620, 627 (2022) (“while discussing with a defendant a choice the defendant must make about a constitutional right, the trial court may not make an inaccurate statement of law nor inject its personal opinion into the defendant’s analysis”); *State v. Crisp*, 362 S.C. 412, 415, 608 S.E.2d 429, 431 (2005) (Judge’s comments “injected his personal opinion about the potential exercise of a constitutional right into the proceeding. Such comments exceed the scope of the judge’s authority, regardless of whether his opinion is based on his experience and best judgment.”).

A person convicted of or sentenced for a crime who claims the conviction or the sentence was “in violation of the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution or laws of this State” may institute a proceeding for post-conviction relief. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20(A)(1).

A petitioner may allege constitutional violations in PCR proceedings, unless the issue could have been raised on direct appeal. *Gibson v. State*, 329 S.C. 37, 41, 495 S.E.2d 426, 428 (1998).

After hearing Petitioner did not wish to accept the plea offer, the court stated, “That’s the best it’s gonna get is 25 years.” App. 8, ll. 22-23. The court told Petitioner that retaining new counsel “wouldn’t result in a better offer.” App. 19, ll. 8-11. The court told Petitioner, “[W]hat I’m getting at is that you’re gonna be between a rock and a hard place going forward if you choose to decline to accept this offer.” App. 7, ll. 11-14. The court also told Petitioner that if he was convicted at trial he would have to serve the penalty of thirty years to life “day for day,” but if he accepted the plea offer he would only have to serve “85 percent.” App. 6, l. 16 – 7, l. 4. The court stated there were “risks and rewards to every action” and asked Petitioner if he wanted to plead guilty to “a guaranteed 25 year sentence” or “see what happens at trial.” App. 8, ll. 12-18. These comments were coercive. The court injected its personal opinion into Petitioner’s analysis by suggesting he should plead guilty. It also made inaccurate statements of law by suggesting that it knew another attorney would not obtain a better result for Petitioner. *E.g.*, *State v. Owens*, 362 S.C. at 178, 607 S.E.2d at 80; *Medlin v. State*, 276 S.C. at 542, 280 S.E.2d at 649.

The circuit court improperly weighed in and took the solicitor’s side. It reiterated what the solicitor said. It did not remain neutral, and instead strongly suggested Petitioner plead guilty. The court did not stay within the guidelines laid out by this Court in *Medlin, supra*. The colloquy did not cure the problem, since the comments occurred during the plea hearing. *See State v. Jenkins*, 436 S.C. at 375, 872 S.E.2d at 627 (“In *Crisp* and *Owens*, we rejected the idea the error in those cases could be harmless, stating in *Crisp* ‘such comments by a trial judge during a guilty plea proceeding are fundamentally erroneous and constitute prejudicial error.’”).

Moreover, the court continued to make inaccurate statements of law and suggest Petitioner plead guilty during the ensuing colloquy. *See* App. 19, ll. 8-11.

Petitioner was improperly denied his rights to due process and trial. His plea was not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily tendered. Petitioner had the right to make the decision of whether to go to trial or plead guilty free of any influence or coercion from the judge. The PCR court erred in denying relief. U.S. Const. amend. VI; U.S. Const. amend. XIV; *Medlin v. State*, 276 S.C. 540, 280 S.E.2d 648; *State v. Owens*, 362 S.C. 175, 607 S.E.2d 78.

II.

The PCR court erred in concluding Petitioner received effective assistance of counsel, where counsel admitted the judge took the solicitor's side and strongly suggested Petitioner should accept the plea offer, but where counsel failed to object and move to withdraw the plea, since the judge may not inject his personal opinion into that decision nor make inaccurate statements of law, and since Petitioner was prejudiced.

Alternatively, Petitioner should have prevailed based on ineffective assistance of counsel. Counsel admitted that when the judge "reiterated what the solicitor had already said" about the plea offer, it changed Petitioner's mind about rejecting the offer. App. 74, ll. 9-16. Judges are generally prohibited from engaging in the plea bargaining process due to the risk of coercion. A judge may only participate in the plea bargaining process in an extremely limited manner not present here. Counsel should have objected to the judge weighing in on Petitioner's decision whether to waive his rights.

A person convicted of or sentenced for a crime who claims the conviction or the sentence was "in violation of the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution or laws of this State" may institute a proceeding under the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20. The Sixth Amendment provides an accused with the right to the assistance of counsel for his defense. U.S. Const. amend. VI. The Fourteenth Amendment extends the Sixth Amendment right to counsel to the States. *Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335, 345 (1963). The Sixth Amendment guarantees that the right to counsel is the right to effective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). The United States Supreme Court has established a two-pronged test to evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. A

petitioner must prove “that counsel’s performance was deficient” and fell below reasonable professional norms, and the deficient performance prejudiced him. *Id.*

The decision to plead guilty must be a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant. *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 56 (1985). “A defendant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of a plea by showing that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial.” *Rolen v. State*, 384 S.C. 409, 413, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009) (citing *Hill v. Lockhart*, *supra*). “The crux of the inquiry is whether counsel’s ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process, not whether the defendant would have been successful had he gone to trial.” *Frierson v. State*, 423 S.C. 257, 262, 815 S.E.2d 433, 436 (2018).

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