RECEIVED

Apr 03 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Honorable Jocelyn J. Newman, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2024-000233

KEVIN LAWRENCE PEARSON,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

AMBREE M. MULLER
S.C. Bar No. 104213
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3747

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Trial counsel testified that in October of 2019, he had discussed a plea offer of a range of 25-30 years on a voluntary manslaughter charge and that Petitioner indicated he would only take 15-20. (App. 71-72). Trial counsel further testified that on November 7, 2019, Petitioner was going to reject that offer and the solicitor gave a final offer of 25 years and Petitioner wanted a day to think about it. (App. 72). Trial counsel testified that there was some back and forth before the plea offer on November 21, 2019, but Petitioner ultimately pled guilty. (App. 73). Trial Counsel further testified that Petitioner did not express that he felt coerced by the Judge, just that “he wasn’t happy about it all, but he kind of understood that the state made that offer and his alternative was going to trial where the minimum would be 30 and the maximum would be life.” (App. 74). Trial Counsel stated that he felt the 25-year plea was in Petitioner’s best interest. (App. 75).

On cross examination, Petitioner questioned trial counsel about the statement made by the judge about not receiving a better offer. (App. 77). Trial counsel stated “Yes. And again, as I said on direct, I believe that statement was made because the solicitor said if he does not take the 25-year plea today, that the plea offer will not be better than murder—which is 30 to life, which is not a better option.” (App. 77-78).

“[I]t is the prerogative of any person to waive his rights, confess, and plead guilty, under judicially defined safeguards, which are adequately enforced.” Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 685, 511 S.E.2d 396, 401 (Ct. App. 1999). Accordingly, because a criminal defendant waives several constitutional rights by pleading guilty, the Due Process Clause requires that guilty pleas are entered into voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238 (1969); Pittman v. State, 337 S.C. 597, 524 S.E.2d 623 (1999). To be intelligent, a plea must be made by a mentally competent defendant who understands both the charges against him and the consequences of his plea. Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 748 (1970). To be voluntary, a

plea must be free of threats or other coercion that would impermissibly distort the defendant's choice. Id. at 755; see also United States v. Smith, 440 F.2d 521, 528–529 (7th Cir.) (Stevens, J., dissenting) (explaining that voluntariness relates to the trustworthiness of the admission of guilt and binding character of the waiver of the constitutional protections which would be available to the accused if he elected to stand trial).

Before a court can accept a guilty plea, the defendant must be advised of the constitutional rights he or she is waiving; the right to a jury trial, the right to confront one's accusers, and the privilege against self-incrimination. Boykin, 395 U.S. at 243. Additionally, the defendant "must be aware of the nature and crucial elements of the offense, the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty, and the nature of the constitutional rights being waived." Pittman v. State, 337 S.C. 597, 599, 524 S.E.2d 623, 624 (1999). The defendant's knowing and voluntary waiver of statutory or constitutional rights must be established by a complete record and "may be accomplished by colloquy between court and defendant, between court and defendant's counsel, or both." State v. Ray, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993); see also Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 485 S.E.2d 367 (1997) (guilty plea not involuntary where the colloquy demonstrated the trial judge asked defendant twice whether he understood there were no promises and that no sentencing recommendations were binding on the judge). To ensure the defendant understands the consequences of his guilty plea, the plea judge "usually questions the defendant about the facts surrounding the crime and punishment that could be imposed." Dover v. State, 304 S.C. 433, 434–35, 405 S.E.2d 391, 392 (1991). However, the plea judge "does not have to direct the defendant's attention to every consequence of his plea provided the record reveals affirmative awareness of the consequences of a guilty plea." Carter v. State, 329 S.C. 355, 362, 495 S.E.2d 773, 776 (1998).

The test for determining the validity of a guilty plea is "whether the plea represents a

voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant.” North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 31 (1970). It is “well established that a guilty plea is not rendered invalid because it represents a compromise by defendant, thrusts a difficult judgment upon him, or is motivated by fear of greater punishment.” United States v. Cox, 464 F.2d 937, 942 (6th Cir. 1972) (citing Brady, 397 U.S. 742). The State may properly encourage guilty pleas either by being more lenient to those who enter such pleas, Brady, 397 U.S. at 750-753, or by increasing the risks of punishment on those who do not. North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 37 (1970).

“Nonetheless, because a guilty plea is a solemn, judicial admission of the truth of the charges against an individual . . . , a criminal inmate’s right to contest the validity of such a plea is usually, but not invariably, foreclosed.” Dalton v. State, 376 S.C. 130, 137, 654 S.E.2d 870, 874 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63, 74 (1977); see also Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 469–71, 765 S.E.2d 123, 129–30 (2014) (observing that “guilty plea[s] must be treated as final in the vast majority of cases” and instructing that caution must be exercised so as not to “undermine the solemn nature of a guilty plea and the finality that generally attaches to a guilty plea”). Indeed, admissions made during a guilty plea should be considered conclusive unless an applicant presents valid reasons why he should be allowed to depart from the truth of his statements.” Dalton, 376 S.C. at 137–38, 654 S.E.2d at 874 (internal citations and quotation marks omitted); cf. Blackledge, 431 U.S. at 73–74 (pointing out that representations made by a defendant, his lawyer, and the prosecutor at a guilty plea hearing, as well as any findings made by the judge accepting the plea, constitute a “formidable barrier in any subsequent collateral proceedings”).

The voluntariness of a guilty plea, however, “is not determined by an examination of the specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea and the record of the post-conviction hearing.” Harres v.

Leeke, 282 S.C. 131, 133, 318 S.E.2d 360, 361 (1984). An applicant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may “only attack voluntary, knowing and intelligent character of the plea by showing that plea counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the [applicant] would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial.” Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. 16, 20, 546 S.E.2d 417, 419 (2001).

Surmounting Strickland’s high bar is never an easy task, and the strong societal interest in finality has “special force with respect to convictions based on guilty pleas.” Lee, 582 U.S. 357, 137 S. Ct. at 1967 (internal citations and quotation marks omitted); cf. Hill, 474 U.S. at 58 (“[R]equiring a ‘prejudice’ showing from defendants who seek to challenge the validity of their guilty pleas on the ground of ineffective assistance of counsel ‘will serve the fundamental interest in the finality of guilty pleas.’”). Reviewing “[c]ourts should not upset a plea solely because of *post hoc* assertions from a defendant about how he would have pleaded but for his attorney’s deficiencies.” Lee, 582 U.S. 357, 137 S. Ct. 1958. Rather, judges should “look to contemporaneous evidence to substantiate a defendant’s expressed preferences.” Id. Thus, in determining whether a guilty plea was taken in accordance with constitutional standards, the reviewing judge must analyze and consider the entire record, including the transcript of the guilty plea and the evidence presented at the PCR hearing. Harres, 282 S.C. at 134, 318 S.E.2d at 361.

The PCR court found that the combined record from the plea hearing and the PCR hearing establishes Petitioner freely, knowingly, and voluntarily plead guilty. “Sound advice by counsel does not constitute coercion merely because it is unpleasant to hear.” Davis v. State, 754 S.W.2d 593, 594 (Mo. Ct. App. 1988). The presiding Judge’s statement to Petitioner that he has received the best possible offer because he would face the higher charge of murder at trial and that he could

be sentenced to life at trial is not “coercion” despite Petitioner’s characterization of it as such. *See Tollett v. Henderson*, 411 U.S. 258, 268 (1973) (explaining that the prospect of plea bargaining, the expectation or hope of a lesser sentence, or the convincing nature of the evidence against the accused are considerations that might well suggest the advisability of a guilty plea). As then-Judge Burger explained in *Brown v. United States*:

A lawyer has a duty to give the accused an honest appraisal of his case. This is commanded in part because without it the accused cannot make an informed judgment as to whether he should enter a plea of guilty—a course of action frequently to the advantage of an accused. The constitutional right to counsel does not mean counsel who will be optimistic in his private appraisal of the evidence and his advice to the accused. Counsel has a duty to be candid; he has no duty to be optimistic when the facts do not warrant optimism.

264 F.2d 363, 369 (D.C. Cir. 1959) (en banc) (Burger, Circuit Justice, concurring in part).

Further, a trial judge may participate in the plea bargaining process if he follows guidelines to minimize the fear of coercion. *See Harden v. State*, 276 S.C. 249, 277 S.E.2d 692 (1981). In *Harden*, Appellant alleged he felt coerced by the time pressure and that the proposed sentence range originated with the trial judge. *Id.* The court held that while there was some indication of time pressure, that evidence fell short of proof that the judge himself actually took affirmative role in pressuring Appellant. Furthermore, the court held that the record in the case was sufficient evidence to support that no direct coercion by the trial judge occurred. *Id.* Similarly, in this case, the judge took no part in the actual plea negotiations. The solicitor made an offer and communicated that offer to the court and stated that there would be no other offer. The Judge repeated that to Petitioner and made sure he understood that he would not get another offer because that’s what the solicitor had said not because he was trying to coerce him that there was not a better offer he could take. He explained what would happen if he did not take the offer and simply informed Petitioner of all of the risks and rewards of taking the offer.

The PCR court found Petitioner's claim of coercion is wholly without merit, particularly in light of his solemn declarations on the record at the plea hearing that no one promised him anything or held out any hope of reward to get him to plead guilty; no one threatened or used force to get him to plead guilty; no one used any pressure or intimidation to cause him to plead guilty; and that he was pleading guilty of his own free will and accord. (App. 101). While Petitioner now claims he was coerced into entering a guilty plea, he made it clear to the plea court that the decision to plead guilty was his own. The PCR court further found that "the plea transcript reflects [Petitioner] understood the proceedings, interacted intelligently with the plea court, and entered his guilty plea knowingly and voluntarily." (App.102). In its order of dismissal, the PCR court cited to Wolfe v. State, that held counsel's statement to defendant that the plea court's "questions are 'routine' is not an invitation to answer them untruthfully, nor does it constitute a reason to believe the questions and statements of the judge during a guilty plea proceeding mean nothing." Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 165, 485 S.E.2d 367, 371 (1997). Lastly, the PCR court held that Petitioner failed to present any valid reason why he should be able to depart from the truth of the statements he made during his plea proceeding. (App. 102-103).

II. The PCR court did not err in concluding that Petitioner received effective assistance of counsel because Petitioner did not allege ineffective assistance of counsel for not withdrawing his guilty plea in his application to the court nor did he allege that at the PCR hearing and therefore is not preserved.

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in concluding Petitioner received effective assistance of counsel where counsel admitted the judge took the solicitor's side and strongly suggested Petitioner should accept the plea offer, but where counsel failed to object and move to withdraw the plea, since the judge may not inject his personal opinion into that decision nor make inaccurate statements of law. There are many issues with this argument. First, Petitioner has misconstrued the facts of the PCR hearing. Trial counsel did not "admit the judge took the solicitor's side and

strongly suggested Petitioner should accept the plea offer.” (Petitioner for Writ of Certiorari p. 12). Trial counsel stated that Judge Addy reiterated what the solicitor had said and changed his mind because while he was not happy with the decision, he understood that the state made that offer and his alternative was going to trial where the minimum would be 30 and the maximum would be life. (App. 74). Second, while Petitioner did allege ineffective assistance of counsel, he did not allege ineffective assistance of counsel for not withdrawing his guilty plea in either his application for PCR nor in the PCR hearing and is therefore not preserved for this court to review. Further, even if it was preserved for review, Petitioner has not met his burden in showing that he was prejudiced by trial counsel not moving to withdraw the plea.

Withdrawal of a guilty plea is generally within the sound discretion of the trial court. State v. Riddle, 278 S.C. 148, 292 S.E.2d 795 (1982). A criminal defendant’s failure to assert his innocence militates against withdrawal. United States v. Craig, 985 F.2d 175, 179 (4th Cir. 1993). Plea counsel may be ineffective for failing to move to withdraw a plea when a criminal defendant makes it apparent, or when counsel comes to believe, that he does not want to continue with the plea and instead wishes to proceed to trial. See e.g. Rolen v. State, 384 S.C. 409, 683 S.E.2d 471 (2009) (finding that counsel was ineffective for failing to move to withdraw a plea when the defendant requested a jury trial and repeatedly asserted his innocence during the plea hearing); Thompson v. State, 340 S.C. 112, 531 S.E.2d 294 (2000) (finding counsel ineffective for failing to move to withdraw a plea after the state reneged on its plea agreement).

Here, while at the beginning of the proceedings Petitioner did not seem to want to go through with the guilty plea, he made it very clear through his discussions with Judge Addy that he had changed his mind and wanted to go through with the guilty plea. Trial counsel was not ineffective in not seeking to withdraw the plea because Petitioner made no assertion that he wanted

the plea withdrawn. Further, even if trial counsel had been ineffective in not seeking to withdraw the plea, Petitioner has failed to show how he was prejudiced from counsel's failure to withdraw the plea. Petitioner never asserted his innocence of the charge. Trial Counsel testified that there was an eyewitness that identified him as the shooter, there was evidence linking him to the car the shooter was driving, as well as cell phone evidence regarding the shooting. (App. 69-70). Therefore, this court should deny Certiorari.


CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny the Petition for a Writ of Certiorari. Should this Court grant the petition, Respondent seeks permission to more fully brief the issues herein.